

**IFF Working Paper Online No 39** 

# Linguistic Minority Rights in Turkey, Iraq, and Lebanon

**Comparative Perspectives** 

LARA TORBAY

November 2023

Citation: Torbay, L., Linguistic Minority Rights in Turkey, Iraq, and Lebanon, IFF Working Paper Online No 39, Fribourg, November 2023. https://doi.org/10.51363/unifr.diff.2023.39

University of Fribourg Institute of Federalism Av. Beauregard 1 CH-1700 Fribourg Phone +41 (0) 26 300 81 25

www.federalism.ch



UNIVERSITÉ DE FRIBOURG FACULTÉ DE DROIT UNIVERSITÄT FREIBURG RECHTSWISSENSCHAFTLICHE FAKULTÄT The IFF Working Paper Online series and other publications of the Institute of Federalism, Fribourg are available on the IFF website www.unifr.ch/federalism/en/research/.

© IFF, 2023 Institute of Federalism, University of Fribourg Avenue Beauregard 1 1700 Fribourg Switzerland federalism@unifr.ch



This work is published under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY 4.0): https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

Author(s): Lara Torbay () (https://orcid.org/0009-0007-9124-9715)

The papers are published in the name of the author(s). Her/his view does not necessarily reflect the view of the Institute of Federalism.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.51363/unifr.diff.2023.39 ISSN: 2813-5261 (Online)

## **Table of Contents**

A) Introduction4
B) Linguistic Minority Rights in General
1. Definition, Scope, and Theoretical Framework5
2. Basis and Justification
3. Language Rights in International Law7
C) Linguistic Minority Rights in Turkey
1. Context
1.1 Demography and Historical Overview
1.2 Linguistic Nationalism and the Turkish State
2. Linguistic Minority Rights in Turkish Law10
3. The "Kurdish Question"12
4. Linguistic Rights of Other Minorities
D) Linguistic Minority Rights in Iraq14
1. Context
1.1 Demography and Historical Overview14
1.2 Federalism's Role in the Protection of Minority Rights15
2. Linguistic Minority Rights in Iraqi Law
3. Linguistic Rights of Kurds17
4. Linguistic Rights of Other Minorities
E) Linguistic Minority Rights in Lebanon
1. Context
1.1 Demography and Historical Overview
1.2 Lebanese Identity and Languages
2. Linguistic Minority Rights in Lebanese Law
3. Linguistic Minorities' Situation in Lebanon
F) Comparative Perspectives
G) Conclusion
References

## Abstract

Linguistic Minority Rights (LMR) are gaining importance in a context of ever-increasing linguistic homogenization. This loss of language diversity is due to eminently political factors lying at the core of the nation state. With this premise, this paper seeks to analyze and compare the way LMR are embedded and implemented in Turkey, Iraq, and Lebanon, all Near East countries hosting astounding linguistic and cultural diversity. After a short introduction to LMR in general, their embedment in the three states at hand is examined, through both political and cultural contextualization, and a legal analysis. This comparative approach highlights that decentralized governments allow more room to linguistic minorities. Further, a pluralistic approach to languages should be embedded in constitutional law, to then be detailed further in more precise and enforceable LMR.

## Keywords

Linguistic Minority Rights, Language Rights, Turkey, Iraq, Lebanon, Kurdish, Armenian, Comparative Constitutional Law, International Law.

## A) Introduction

"Any language is a supreme achievement of a uniquely human collective genius, as divine and endless a mystery as a living organism"<sup>1</sup>. Languages are then in and of themselves worthy of interest and, more specifically, of legal protection<sup>2</sup>. This conclusion is of exceptional significance given that an estimated 40% of the world's 6000 languages are endangered<sup>3</sup> and up to 90% of the languages presently spoken in the world might disappear by the end of the 21<sup>st</sup> century<sup>4</sup>. This is especially worrying for populations speaking minority languages within their country, often at risk of witnessing a decrease in the use of their mother tongue and, eventually, its disappearance<sup>5</sup>. Nevertheless, there is room for hope: consistent evidence has shown that language policies can promote the vitality and stability of these languages<sup>6</sup>. In this context, the importance of language rights is widely recognized<sup>7</sup>.

The protection of minority languages is particularly central in the Near East, given its astounding linguistic diversity<sup>8</sup>: there is a vast variety of languages in the region, including Turkish, an array of Arabic dialects, as well as other native languages usually spoken by ethnic or religious minorities such as Armenian, Aramaic or Kurdish<sup>9</sup>. Additionally, European languages remain present as a legacy of colonialism and have become an integral part of some of the local cultures<sup>10</sup>. Is this precious heterogeneity protected by regional legal frameworks, and if so, are the measures in place effective in doing so? To answer this question, we will examine the current state of linguistic minority rights (LMR) in Turkey, Iraq, and Lebanon. Indeed, all these countries are hosts to a wide variety of languages, including Kurdish, Arabic and Armenian, which they have in common. Their approach concerning linguistic minorities are therefore worth comparing and analyzing.

This is naturally no easy task. It seems important to note that this paper was written based on sources in English, French and German, thus excluding the crucial material written in Turkish and Arabic. Further, as it must remain short, it will only provide a partial overview of local political and legal contexts and can only analyze the situation of some linguistic minorities in the region. Its scope is therefore limited.

Nonetheless, this paper aims to provide an understanding of which governmental structures and laws could contribute to preserving and promoting linguistic and cultural diversity. With this aim, we will first present and analyze the concept, justifications, and relevance of LMR (*infra* B/1 and B/2). We will additionally present an overview of its implementation in international law (*infra* B/3). In the second part of this paper, the relevant aspects of Turkey's history and socio-political context will be presented (*infra* C/1), as well as its current legal dispositions regarding LMR (*infra* C/2) and the impact of the latter on Turkey's linguistic minorities (*infra* C/3 and C/4). We will then proceed with the same structure in the fourth and fifth part of this paper to analyze LMR in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> PINKER, p. 260.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> DUNBAR, pp. 90-91; PINKER, p. 260.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Lalik, p. 56; Leinonen, p. 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> DUNBAR, p. 90; PINKER, p. 232.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> PINKER, p. 232.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Hornberger, p. 458.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> ÇELEBI et al. et al., p. 1034; SKUTNABB-KANGAS/PHILLIPSON, *Linguistic Human Rights*, p. 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> STILLMAN, p. 190.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> ibidem.

Iraq (*infra* D) and Lebanon (*infra* E). Finally, the last part of this paper will be dedicated to a comparative analysis of these states' approaches to LMR (*infra* F).

## **B)** Linguistic Minority Rights in General

## 1. Definition, Scope, and Theoretical Framework

Language rights or linguistic rights are "a series of obligations on state authorities to either use certain languages in a number of contexts, or not interfere with the linguistic choices and expression of private parties"<sup>11</sup>. Linguistic minority rights are language rights that specifically apply to minorities<sup>12</sup>. They include both an individual and a collective component<sup>13</sup>. At an individual level, linguistic rights imply that everyone can speak (in private contexts as well as many official contexts), learn and identify with their mother tongue<sup>14</sup>. At a collective level, linguistic rights include linguistic minorities' right to use, maintain and develop their languages<sup>15</sup>, which implies a certain degree of autonomy, control over their educational system and representation in the state's politics<sup>16</sup>. These rights should be "enforceable, which presupposes financial resources, and appropriate democratic, constitutional and legal procedures"<sup>17</sup>.

Linguistic rights can further be categorized into "tolerance-oriented" and "promotion-oriented" rights<sup>18</sup>. The former are negative rights implying the protection of individuals' freedom to speak the language of their choice in the private spheres<sup>19</sup>. Through that lens, language rights are fundamentally a matter of freedom of expression<sup>20</sup>. On the contrary, the latter imply active measures from the state aiming to facilitate and promote the use of a language<sup>21</sup>.

Finally, a definition for what constitutes a language is absent from all international instruments<sup>22</sup>. The distinction between a language and a dialect being notoriously thorny<sup>23</sup>, we will regroup both notions under the concept of language in this paper, international law tending to give up on this distinction as well<sup>24</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> UN Handbook, p.5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> PHILLIPSON/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, *Linguistic rights and wrongs*, p. 487. However, what constitutes exactly a minority is far from clear. At the risk of simplifying, we will consider a group to be a linguistic minority if its members speak a language that isn't an official language, or if it is not the most spoken language within the country, or if a certain language is repressed or marginalized since the power dynamics are clearly in disfavor of its speakers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> PHILLIPSON/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, *Linguistic rights and wrongs*, p. 487.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> PHILLIPSON/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, *Linguistic rights and wrongs*, p. 487; MILES, p. 27; STAVENHAGEN, p. 19; THORN-BERRY, p. 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> PHILLIPSON/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, *Linguistic rights and wrongs*, p. 487; LEONTIEV, pp. 63-65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> PHILLIPSON/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, *Linguistic rights and wrongs*, p. 487.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> KYMLICKA/PLATTEN, p. 8; KLOSS, pp. 250-257.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> ibidem.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  De Varennes, p. 312.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> KYMLICKA/PLATTEN, p. 8; KLOSS, pp. 250-257.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> DUNBAR, p. 96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CRYSTAL, *The Cambridge Encyclopedia*, p. 25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> We are taking this liberty given that the difference between dialects and languages is "often based on political and historical rather than linguistic reasons" (DUNBAR p. 96); see also: Crystal, *The Cambridge Encyclopedia*, p. 25.

## 2. Basis and Justification

As Dunbar writes: "The growing interest in linguistic rights has been accompanied by a growing debate as to the nature and theoretical underpinnings of such rights as human rights"<sup>25</sup>. What, then, justifies the existence of LMR specifically?

The first ground to ensure and develop linguistic rights lies in the close link between language and culture<sup>26</sup>. Languages are undeniably central to people's identity<sup>27</sup> and key for the preservation of their cultural heritage<sup>28</sup>.

Furthermore, the protection of language preferences can have a wider impact on political stability: they serve to promote the inclusion and participation of minorities, thus avoiding sentiments of alienation which could in time lead to conflict<sup>29</sup>. The promotion of linguistic diversity therefore serves the realization of a democratic and peaceful society<sup>30</sup>.

Additionally, many arguments can be made in favor of language rights aiming at the protection of languages themselves, independently of their speakers' individual rights<sup>31</sup>. Such a conception grounds linguistic rights "in abstraction, namely language itself"<sup>32</sup>, which has been, at times, criticized for being a rather weak basis for human rights<sup>33</sup>. In response, analogies are commonly made with biodiversity to defend the importance of language protection: diversity itself is good and must be preserved; the harm to one element threatens the whole ecosystem<sup>34</sup>. Following this logic, a threat to one language means a threat to all; every single one must then be protected<sup>35</sup>. Expressing a similar thought, Hale writes: "The loss of a language is part of the more general loss being suffered by the world, the loss of diversity in all things"<sup>36</sup>.

However, these arguments only highlight the importance and worth of languages. They do not address the necessity to take active measures in order to preserve language diversity, nor do they explicitly highlight the significance of such rights for linguistic minorities specifically. Languages are admittedly important and interesting, but is the decrease in use of small dialects not a natural, inevitable phenomenon? Why should policies or rights seek to hinder that process? The reason to strive for such protection lies in the deeply political aspects at the root of language disappearance. Languages are social constructs and practices, constantly shaped and modified by their users

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> DUNBAR, p. 93; see also: Leslie GREEN, "Are Language Rights Fundamental?" (1987); Denise G. RÉAUME, The Constitutional Protection of Language: Survival or Security?; C. Michael MACMILLAN, Linking Theory To Practice: Comments on "The Constitutional Protection of Language, both in David Schneiderman, (ed.), Language and the State: The Law and Politics of Identity (Montreal: Les Editions Yvon Blais, 1989) at 37 and 59; Niamh Nic SHUIBHNE, Language Rights as Human Rights? (Dublin: Bord na Gaeilge, 1999), and Miroslav Kusy, Innate Dignity, Cultural Identity and Minority Language Rights Vol. 6 (1999) International Journal on Minority and Group Rights 299.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 129; KUMARASWAMY, p. 160; MANCINI/DE WITTE, p. 247; for a critical appraisal of that argument, see also: KUMARASWAMY, p. 208.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CRYSTAL, Language Death, p. 44; DE VARENNES, p. 129; KUMARASWAMY, p. 160; UN Handbook, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Mancini/de Witte, p. 247; Kumaraswamy, p. 160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> UN Handbook, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> GIORDAN, p. 680.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> DUNBAR, p. 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> *idem*, p. 94.

 $<sup>^{33}</sup>$  Réaume, no.17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> DUNBAR, p. 93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Hale, p. 192.

through interactions<sup>37</sup>. They permit identity constructions of collective narratives, so-called "linguistic ideologies"<sup>38</sup>. Such ideologies have often played a central role in the construction of nationalist narratives and in processes of state-building, as it has been the case for example in Turkey (*infra* C/1.2). In order to consolidate its power, the nation-state must build a strong national narrative around its identity – including its languages<sup>39</sup>. Linguistic policies lie therefore at the heart of a state-building process<sup>40</sup>. This is usually achieved through the institution of official, national languages to be used in public spheres, thus relegating and confining minoritized languages to the private domain<sup>41</sup>. The consequences of such a process are clear. By preferring national, official languages, the state grants advantages to their speakers<sup>42</sup>. As Leinonen puts it: "this hierarchization tends to gradually lead to language loss or shift when speakers of minoritized languages learn the national language instead of their own"<sup>43</sup>. In short, "national language policy can be seen as a deliberate intervention and therefore embodies a concrete expression of power"44. Therefore, languages do not simply decrease in use or disappear spontaneously and naturally but do so because of a series of political factors. These include forced assimilation, political marginalization, assimilatory education<sup>45</sup>, forced displacement and the destruction of its speakers' habitat<sup>46</sup>. Linguistic diversity is framed as linguistic difference, putting speakers of minoritized languages in the position of the "Other", thus becoming socially, politically, and economically marginalized<sup>47</sup>. Language minority rights are therefore not only necessary but also consistent: they are legal and political measures needed to prevent or reverse a legal and political process.

### 3. Language Rights in International Law

Language rights are protected in several areas of international law, though in different ways and to varying extent. Generally, it is possible to distinguish three broad areas of international law concerned with the protection of languages and/or their speakers: human rights law, minority rights law, and international law for the protection of culture<sup>48</sup>.

Although there is no right to language recognition on an international level, international human rights law protects various individual rights that have an impact on the protection of language-related interests<sup>49</sup>. These include freedom of speech, international guarantees of a fair trial (e.g. art. 14(3) ICCPR), the prohibition against discrimination (e.g. art. 2 and 26 ICCPR), or the right to take part in cultural life (e.g. art. 15 ICESCR)<sup>50</sup>. All of these human rights consider language as a potential barrier to accessing other human rights and are therefore mainly concerned with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 10; KROSKRITY, p. 193.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> BARNARD, p. 235.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> LEWIS, pp. 83-90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Leinonen, p. 88; Kamusella, pp. 163-175; May, pp. 54-60.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 307.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 43}$  Leinonen, p. 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Rassool, p. 89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> *idem*, p. 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> DUNBAR, p. 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> RASSOOL, p. 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 87; UN Handbook, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> ibidem.

issues of inclusion<sup>51</sup>. As a result, they "tend to ignore the intrinsic significance and meaning that a particular language may have for individuals, as a fundamental aspect of their identity"<sup>52</sup>.

Additionally, minority group rights protect languages within the context of the legal protection of minority groups and are therefore usually conceived as individual rights belonging to members of minorities<sup>53</sup>. However, they have a collective element, which human rights are lacking<sup>54</sup>. Such rights can be found, for example, in art. 27 ICCPR, art. 9, 10 11 and 14 of the FCNM and non-binding instruments, such as the UNDRIP or the UN Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities<sup>55</sup>.

Lastly, international law for the protection of culture protects language rights themselves<sup>56</sup>. The most important instrument in that regard is the ECRML, which lists a series of measures that could be taken by states in order to preserve linguistic diversity<sup>57</sup>. Although its *à la carte* approach might render it a paper tiger, some argue the ECRML has been so far "a powerful instrument in the protection and promotion of regional and minority languages"<sup>58</sup>.

It is then clear that LMR are protected on an international law, through various means and extents. But, as Dunbar argues, "it is also clear that the present provision falls well short of a comprehensive and coherent package"<sup>59</sup>. Linguistic minorities then have to turn to national law to seek necessary protection<sup>60</sup>.

## C) Linguistic Minority Rights in Turkey

#### 1. Context

#### 1.1 Demography and Historical Overview

Turkey is a multilingual country, with millions of speakers of minority languages<sup>61</sup>. These linguistic minorities include around 365'000 Arabic speakers, mostly concentrated near the country's border with Syria; between 10 and 20 million Kurds speaking predominantly Kurdish dialects such as Zaza and Kurmandschi; a Sephardic Jewish population speaking predominantly Ladino (a Spanish-Hebraic dialect); and Aramaic, Armenian and Greek speakers<sup>62</sup>. Additionally, Turkey is host to 1 million Bosnians, 3 million Circassians, 500'000 members of the Roma population, all of which are susceptible to speaking languages other than Turkish<sup>63</sup>.

<sup>54</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 93

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> *idem*, p. 105.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> DE VARENNES, p. 106; DUNBAR, p. 97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> BARTHOLOMÄ, p. 169.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> DUNBAR, p. 119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> *idem*, p. 119.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> SCHROEDER, p. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Јасов, pp. 114-117.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> BALDWIN/KAYA, p. 6.

During the Ottoman Empire, such linguistic diversity was able to thrive, as subjects enjoyed a vast linguistic freedom: "while Ottoman Turkish was the official *lingua franca*, the general population was at liberty to speak, teach and publish in any language"<sup>64</sup>. Furthermore, multi-religiosity and multi-ethnicity were two crucial elements at the heart of the Empire<sup>65</sup>. However, this quickly changed at the end of the Ottoman Empire<sup>66</sup>.

The 1924 Treaty of Lausanne, superseding the 1920 Treaty of Sèvres and establishing Turkey's borders, included several (linguistic) rights for citizens of the newly founded state of Turkey – rights which would later be disregarded by the Turkish republic<sup>67</sup>. The foundation of the Turkish republic was then defined by the principles of Kemalism, named after Turkey's first president Kemal Atatürk, which included republicanism, populism, secularism and nationalism<sup>68</sup>. This led to fast and drastic changes in the country, which had negative impacts on minorities in Turkey<sup>69</sup>. In fact, the state started adopting an ideology of centralized power<sup>70</sup> and aggressively constructing mono-ethnic nationalism, with languages other than Turkish being targeted by drastic measures since<sup>71</sup>. Following decades of ethnic and political tensions<sup>72</sup>, Turkey's last military coup in 1982 led to a complete overhaul of the constitution, "making the exclusive position of the Turkish language clear"<sup>73</sup>.

#### 1.2 Linguistic Nationalism and the Turkish State

The Turkish nation-building process that begun in the 1920s attempted to make a homogenous society from its heterogenous population<sup>74</sup>. Its goal was to create "nationalist citizens out of former subjects of an empire"<sup>75</sup>. In order to achieve this, great emphasis was put on the Turkish language as a key factor for Turkish nationalism<sup>76</sup>: "Ottoman Turkish was a conglomeration of Turkish, Arabic and Persian with some Italian, Greek, Armenian and other European elements, and was written using Arabic characters. (...) Ottoman Turkish was not, therefore, palatable for the westernizing, nationalist elite, who wanted to create a nation-state for the Turks and to burn the bridges connecting the nascent republic to its Islamic, oriental predecessor"<sup>77</sup>. The alphabet was consequently romanized in 1928<sup>78</sup> and the Turkish Language Institute, whose task was to rid the language of all its non-Turkish components, was established shortly afterwards in 1932<sup>79</sup>. Turkish was to become the common – and only – language of Turkish citizens and considered to be a key factor in national unity<sup>80</sup>. The language reforms imposing the Turkish language that

<sup>68</sup> Killi, p. 1072.

- <sup>70</sup> ÇELEBI et al., p. 1035.
- <sup>71</sup> Smith-Kocamahhul, p. 45.
- <sup>72</sup> Killi, p. 1074.

- <sup>74</sup> DERINCE, p. 146; LEINONEN, p. 88.
- <sup>75</sup> AYTÜRK, p. 1; see also: KILI, p. 1072.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> SMITH-KOCAMAHHUL, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Yegen, p. 557.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Smith-Kocamahhul, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> SMITH-KOCAMAHHUL, p. 45; see also: DERINCE, p. 196.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Aytürk, p. 12; Bayir, p. 1; Leinonen, p. 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> AYTÜRK, p. 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> AYTÜRK, p. 12; KILI, p. 1072; SMITH-KOCAMAHHUL, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Aytürk, p. 12; Smith-Kocamahhul, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> BAYIR, p. 55.

followed were therefore of great symbolic significance for the new Turkish identity<sup>81</sup>.But Turkey's linguistic nationalism was only one part of a larger process commonly known as "Turkification": the efforts to establish the hegemony of Turkish culture and language over the entire theory<sup>82</sup>. Local languages were thus assimilated through the standardization and generalization of Turkish<sup>83</sup>. Education, assuming an assimilating logic, played an especially central role in this process<sup>84</sup>. The two pillars of Turkification are forced internal displacement and legislation prohibiting the use of minority languages<sup>85</sup>. Policies were thus created to explicitly combat the use of other languages, especially regarding Kurdish dialects: "The Turkish state's assimilationist practices resulted in a ban of the Kurdish language, replacing Kurdish names of places and children with Turkish ones, in an attempt of 'Turkification' of the national identity on the basis of Turkish language and culture"<sup>86</sup>. Furthermore, the use of expressions such as "Kurdish" or "Kurd" was forbidden<sup>87</sup>. Arabic was also fought against, its use even forbidden for religious purposes for a time <sup>88</sup>.

Considering linguistic homogeneity as an essential part of Turkish unity and territorial indivisibility implies that any talk of LMR represents a threat to national stability and security<sup>89</sup>. This suspicion is especially strong if such rights are supported by "the West", a legacy of past tensions dating back to the Ottoman Empire<sup>90</sup>. This has led to a climate of paranoia, where any attempt to further LMR is seen – and judged – as a threat to the indivisibility and security of Turkey<sup>91</sup>. In many cases, advocates promoting LMR have in fact been brought to court "because their perspectives threaten a monolithic and corporatist concept of nation"<sup>92</sup>. Dissenting voices seeking to further minority rights being framed within the discourse of security then becomes a tool in the hands of the State to avoid any progress in the realm of minority rights<sup>93</sup>.

## 2. Linguistic Minority Rights in Turkish Law

Art. 3 of the Turkish Constitution (TK Const.): "The state of Turkey, with its territory and nation, is an indivisible entity. *Its language is Turkish*" (emphasis added). The only official language is Turkish; "the Turkish state is single, the country is whole and the nation is one"<sup>94</sup>. The Constitutional Court has since changed the interpretation of "Turkish nation", leading to a jurisprudence treating any attempt to undermine Turkish unity as unconstitutional<sup>95</sup>. This extensive interpretation of "Turkish nation" has been especially used against Kurdish activists aiming at promoting their cultural and political rights<sup>96</sup>. Making the matter worse, the first three articles of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> AYTÜRK, p. 1; BAYIR, p.98; ÇELEBI et al., p. 1035.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> ÇELEBI et al., p. 1035; SAGNIC, p. 127.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> BAYIR, p. 98; ÇOLAK, p. 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> Leinonen, p. 112.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> SAGNIC, p. 130.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> ÇELEBI et al. p. 1035.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> SAGNIC, p. 128.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> SMITH-KOCAMAHHUL, p. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Kakizaki, p. 162; Liaras/Somer, p. 157.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> LIARAS/SOMER, p. 157.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Kilinç, p. 182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Kakizaki, p. 127.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> VEZBERGAITE, p. 8.

<sup>95</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> ibidem.

Constitution are, according to the 1982 Constitution, "entrenched clauses" which cannot be amended, a change to this legal situation then rendered near impossible<sup>97</sup>.

Furthermore, the Turkish Constitution does not refer to minorities at any point<sup>98</sup>. The closest to minority protection that can be found is Art. 10 TK Const. which foresees equality before the law, irrespective, among other factors, of race or language<sup>99</sup>.

The Turkish State has not only refused to adopt and protect LMR to modern standards, but also actively strived to eradicate minority languages, especially Kurdish. By 1924, one year after the founding of the new Turkish republic, publications in languages other than Turkish were declared illegal in violation of the Treaty of Lausanne, and all Kurdish traditional schools were closed<sup>100</sup>. Besides, the Kurdish language was banned altogether, leading the State to replace Kurdish names of places and children with Turkish ones<sup>101</sup>. The Registration Act forbidding names "contrary to moral rules" and that "offend the public" was only amended in 2004, allowing children to have Kurdish names again<sup>102</sup>. However, art. 2 of the Provincial Administrative Law still restricts places' names to this day, in order to "avoid confusion"<sup>103</sup>.

Furthermore, extensive legislation forbidding the use of minority languages was passed, preventing the use of languages other than Turkish in a wide array of situation, including private conversations on public streets<sup>104</sup>. In 1991, most of these laws were repealed<sup>105</sup> but many restrictions remain, including in the sectors of education<sup>106</sup>, justice<sup>107</sup> and public services<sup>108</sup>.

The area of education is, according to both experts<sup>109</sup> and language activists<sup>110</sup>, central for the preservation of minority languages. Yet it remains illegal for schools to teach any language other than Turkish as a mother tongue (art. 42(9) TK Const.)<sup>111</sup>, this despite some positive policies allowing private universities to create optional Kurdish classes as a foreign language course starting 2004 and elective Kurdish classes starting to be taught in schools in 2012<sup>112</sup>. These changes followed the 2003 reform of the Law on Different Languages and Dialects, which allowed the possibility to teach Kurdish in private classes<sup>113</sup>.

There is no legal framework enabling minorities to use their mother tongue with judicial authorities, the right to free trial (arts. 36-40 TK Const.) remaining silent on the topic<sup>114</sup>. There is however a provision in the Treaty of Lausanne granting members of linguistic minorities the right to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> ibidem. 98 BALDWIN/KAYA, p. 6. <sup>99</sup> ibidem. <sup>100</sup> SAGNIC, p. 130. <sup>101</sup> BALDWIN/KAYA, p. 24; ÇELEBI et al., p. 1036; ZEYDANLIOĞLU, pp. 99-108. <sup>102</sup> BALDWIN/KAYA, p. 24. <sup>103</sup> *ibidem*. <sup>104</sup> SMITH-KOCAMAHHUL, p. 46. <sup>105</sup> *ibidem*. <sup>106</sup> *ibidem*. <sup>107</sup> KURBAN, p. 19. <sup>108</sup> ibidem. <sup>109</sup> DERINCE, p. 146; ÇELEBI et al., p. 1036. <sup>110</sup> LEINONEN, p. 110. <sup>111</sup> SMITH-KOCAMAHHUL, p. 46. <sup>112</sup> DERINCE, p. 147. <sup>113</sup> ÇELEBI et al., p. 1035.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> KURBAN, p. 19.

use their own language before the courts and requiring the states to take measures to make use of this right possible<sup>115</sup>. Though this is at least some protection of LMR before courts, the provision in the Treaty does not distinguish between civil and criminal proceedings, leaving room for restrictions<sup>116</sup>. In the field of criminal law, the Turkish procedure foresees a partial right to be provided with an interpreter<sup>117</sup> (though its implementation remains vastly ineffective, knowing that linguistic minorities tend to be provided with incompetent translators)<sup>118</sup>. However, the legal framework regarding civil proceedings does not grant a similar right<sup>119</sup>.

Additionally, public services in Turkey are not provided in any language other than the official language<sup>120</sup>. Although some bold local initiatives have been undertaken by some municipalities to change this situation and allow the use of minority languages<sup>121</sup>, the status quo remains even in areas where minority languages are predominantly spoken<sup>122</sup>.

Lastly, relative progress has been achieved in the field of LMR in media<sup>123</sup>. In 2001, the Constitution was amended, allowing broadcasting and print in minority languages<sup>124</sup>. Political-party propaganda was only allowed in languages other than Turkish starting 2010<sup>125</sup>. Though these are positive changes, there remain many limitations regarding the length and content of TV programs in minority languages<sup>126</sup> and the practice is at times more repressive than the law seems to allow<sup>127</sup>.

Most of the reforms giving room for the use of minority languages, especially Kurdish, were introduced in the early 2000s. This so-called "Kurdish Opening", truly initiated in 2009<sup>128</sup>, intervened at a time when Turkey sought to accede to EU membership and thus needed to comply to its standards regarding minority rights<sup>129</sup>. The "Kurdish Opening" has then been seen by Kurdish populations as hollow measures taken reluctantly, far from tackling the underlying problems of Turkish hegemony and systemic marginalization at hand<sup>130</sup>.

## 3. The "Kurdish Question"

The "Kurdish Question", i.e. the Turkish-Kurdish tensions and subsequent conflicts between the two populations, define Turkish politics today<sup>131</sup>. According to Vezbergaite, the "Kurdish Question" "basically refers to the denial and repression of Kurdish ethnic identity by the Turkish

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Code of Criminal Procedure, No. 1412, 4 April 1929, Official Gazette No. 1172, 20 April 1929, Art. 252.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> KURBAN, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> *ibidem*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> KURBAN, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> *ibidem*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> KURBAN, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> LIARAS/SOMER, p. 153.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> KURBAN, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Smith/Kocamahhul, p. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> ÇELEBI et al., p. 1035; KIRIŞÇI, pp. 338-346.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> DERINCE, pp. 147-148; KAKIZAKI, p. 162.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> DERINCE, p. 145.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> VEZBERGAITE, p. 3.

State"<sup>132</sup>. The current tense situation is the result of years of Turkish cultural and political repression against the Kurds and many attempts by the Kurds to resist against Turkey's violent hegemony, often through separatist movements<sup>133</sup>.

Turkey's policy regarding the Kurdish language has been one of clear and complete denial of its very existence<sup>134</sup>. The Turkish State has been attempting to "eliminate sociological truths through court decisions" over decades<sup>135</sup>. The attorney general Cemalettin Celik declared during trial in 1990: "Existence of a nation other than the Turks, a language other than Turkish is unacceptable. ... To say that there is a language other than Turkish and support this language and culture is a crime"<sup>136</sup>. This has since changed, with a cautious and slow recognition of the Kurdish language as a language. In a 2011 court case against Kurdish activists, the language spoken by the defendants was referred to as "an unknown language", hence recognizing Kurdish as a language before a court for the first time<sup>137</sup>. This shows small progress but remains vastly insufficient<sup>138</sup>. Kurdish is described as an unknown, or foreign, language, whose existence on Turkish territory remains illegitimate.

This systematic denial of the Kurdish language's existence coupled with Turkey's assimilationist legislation regarding minority languages (*supra* C/2), has had a lasting impact on the prominence of Kurdish in the country. The transmission of Kurdish in Turkey has drastically decreased over the last decades<sup>139</sup>. In order to avoid linguistic disappearance, Leinonen suggests a series of measures, including non-compulsory Kurdish language education<sup>140</sup>, public services and mass media in Kurdish<sup>141</sup>, as well as compulsory education in Kurdish<sup>142</sup>. This last point has been arguably one of the most prevalent demands of Kurdish activists, as it is considered as the key factor allowing the survival of Kurdish dialects<sup>143</sup>.

#### 4. Linguistic Rights of Other Minorities

One must note that, when researching LMR in Turkey, most information that can be found will be centered around Kurdish. The "Kurdish Question" tends to overshadow other minority groups suffering from repressive policies against their culture and language<sup>144</sup>. This might be because Kurds represent the biggest minority present in Turkey and Kurdish activism makes the group's claims highly visible<sup>145</sup>.

But other minorities such as Arabic, Armenian or Greek speakers in Turkey also deserve to be considered. In fact, Turkey's various ethnic, religious, and linguistic minorities have faced a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Derince, p. 151; Leinonen, p. 93; Sagnic, p. 133.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> ÇELEBI et al., p. 1035; DERINCE, p. 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> SAGNIC, p. 128; see also: BESIKCI, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> BESIKCI, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup> DERINCE, p. 145; Kurdish had been until then recorded as "unknown sounds", denying its existence as a language.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> DERINCE, p. 145.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Derince, p. 148; Leinonen, p. 90; Öpengin, p. 176.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> LEINONEN, p. 97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> *idem*, p. 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> *idem*, p. 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> ÇELEBI et al., p. 1036; DERINCE, p. 146; LEINONEN, p. 110.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Smith-Kocamahhul, p. 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> ibidem.

considerable amount of violence over the years<sup>146</sup>. Linguistic minorities are also specifically targeted, as exemplified by the Arabic speaking population in the region of Hatay, who, according to Smith/Kocamahhul, are at risk of being targeted by the same repression that the Kurds have been facing for decades, were they to demand linguistic rights as well<sup>147</sup>.

## D) Linguistic Minority Rights in Iraq

## 1. Context

#### 1.1 Demography and Historical Overview

Most reporting on Iraq has the tendency to describe its population as divided into three groups: Shias, Sunnis and Kurds<sup>148</sup>. This is a crass oversimplification of the Iraqi reality. Iraq is a melting pot of many religious and ethnic groups, including Turkmen, Assyrians, Baha'is, Christians, Faili Kurds, Mandaeans, Palestinians, Shabak, Roma and Yezidis<sup>149</sup>. The population is therefore an exceptionally diverse one, including linguistically. Aside of (Iraqi) Arabic, the most spoken language in the country, a significant portion of the population speaks Kurdish, Turkoman, Assyrian and Armenian<sup>150</sup>.

The population of Iraq has in fact always been far from a homogenous, unified group. This is most likely due to the artificiality of the state, its creation – and consequently the definition of its borders – being the work of Great Britain after the fall of the Ottoman Empire<sup>151</sup>.

The country fell in 1968 under the control of the Baath Party, later led by Saddam Hussein, which defended the Arab Nationalist ideology<sup>152</sup>. The party's rise to power therefore led to a worsened situation for non-Arab minorities such as the Kurds, who were then marginalized and oppressed by the central government<sup>153</sup>. In 1991, Kurds in the north and Shia Arabs in the south of the country started an uprising against the central government<sup>154</sup>. Following the revolt, military forces from eleven countries were deployed in order to give humanitarian assistance to minorities fearing repression<sup>155</sup> and a no-fly zone was created to protect them in 1991<sup>156</sup>, giving room for Kurdish self-rule in the region over a few years<sup>157</sup>.

The US then invaded Iraq in 2003 and occupied the country until 2007 initially with the goal of removing Saddam Hussein's regime, under the pretext that Iraq had refused to abandon its weap-ons of mass destruction program, which, later, proved to be false<sup>158</sup>. The 2005 Constitution was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> SMITH-KOCAMAHHUL, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> BOWRING, p. 319.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> BOWRING, p. 324; HACCIUS, p. 4; O'LEARY, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> BOWRING, p. 324.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> BOWRING, p. 329; FUCCARO, pp. 560-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> HACCIUS, p. 5; ÖZDEN, p. 46; YESILTAS, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> HACCIUS, p. 5; YESILTAS, p. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> MISTAFFA, p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Haccius, p. 7; Fernandes/Skutnabb-Kangas, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> MISTAFFA, p. 141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> HACCIUS, p. 7; PFIFFNER, pp. 79-84.

adopted after a turbulent process<sup>159</sup> which ended with a national referendum on the new text<sup>160</sup>. Scholars have criticized the constitutional making process as being undemocratic, secretive and heavily influenced by US political interests<sup>161</sup>. The Transitional Administrative Law of Iraq, which preceded the 2005 Constitution, was notoriously written in English by US nationals and none of the people involved in its making were constitutional law experts<sup>162</sup>. As for the drafting of the Constitution itself, the process was "remarkable in a way in which members of the Assembly, though legally charged with responsibility for writing the draft, were not involved"<sup>163</sup>. Additionally, due to some delay, the Iraqi population had little time to be consulted over the draft, many voting on it without having seen the final draft once, the document hence clearly lacking democratic legitimacy<sup>164</sup>.

### 1.2 Federalism's Role in the Protection of Minority Rights

The 2005 Constitution instituted Iraq as a federalist country, making it an exception in the Middle East in that regard<sup>165</sup>. The idea of dividing power both horizontally and vertically was initially pushed by the United States as well as opposition groups in post-Saddam Iraq with the goal of avoiding another dictatorship<sup>166</sup>. Much has been written since about the potential – or danger – of choosing this system in a country as fragmented as Iraq.

Federalism, a form of state organization where at least two levels of government coexist<sup>167</sup>, combining both shared- and self-rule<sup>168</sup>, has been feared to promote separatist claims and therefore lead to the breakdown of the country<sup>169</sup>. This is especially worrisome in the case of Iraq, which has opted for one of the weakest forms of federalism in the world, with only minimal competence left to the central government and a substantial devolution of power to the Kurdish region<sup>170</sup>.

However, federalism could also permit the diffusion of ethnic nationalist aspirations by allowing space in a state's institutions and government for a degree of group autonomy<sup>171</sup>. It has also been argued to be the best system to reach unity in Iraq<sup>172</sup>. Indeed, this system can promote tolerance as well as compromise-seeking<sup>173</sup>. It can be used as a tool for conflict-resolution<sup>174</sup> and allows for the balancing between regional interests and national stability<sup>175</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Haccius, p. 13; Herther Spiro, p. 342; Kurrild-Klitgaard, pp. 14-15; Mutua, p. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> FELDMAN/ROMAN, p. 883, HACCIUS, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> JAWAD, p. 10; see also: MORROW Jonathan., *Iraq's Constitutional Process II: An Opportunity Lost*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Allawi, p. 222; Jawad, p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> MORROW, p. 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Haccius, p. 15; Ghai/Cottrell, p. 1; Jawad, p. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> NASEEF, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> NATALI, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> HACCIUS, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> See MUELLER, *Self-Rule and Shared Rule* (online).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> Ghai/Cottrell, p. 5; Tierney, p. 283.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> NATALI, p. 1; BRANCATI, p. 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Herther-Spiro, pp. 370-371.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> Bermeo, p. 108; Ghai, p. 5; Haccius, p. 7; McGarry / O'Leary, p. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> Ghai, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Haccius, p. 7; Mistaffa, p. 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> Ghai, p. 5.

One could then support the argument that federalism in Iraq has helped the promotion and protection of minority rights, including linguistic rights, in the country<sup>176</sup>. As Natali writes: "the particular nature of Iraqi federalism, as espoused in the 2005 constitution, devolved large powers to the Kurdistan region and the provinces, expanded political participation and representation through a quota system, and checked the authority of the central government"<sup>177</sup>. All these elements are arguably positive developments for minorities seeking to protect their culture and language and tend towards a collective understanding of LMR. However, the developments in Iraq in recent years were less encouraging, national unity still far from being reached in the country<sup>178</sup>.

#### 2. Linguistic Minority Rights in Iraqi Law

According to art. 4(1) of the Iraqi Constitution (IQ Const.), both Arabic and Kurdish are official national languages. Additionally, Syrian and Turkmen will be official languages as in administrative units where there is a high density of their speakers (art. 4(4) IQ Const.). The Constitution also foresees the possibility of adopting further official languages on a local level if the population of that region expresses its wish through a referendum (art. 4(5) IQ Const.). Lastly, Iraqis have a right to mother tongue education in their mother tongue in public educational institutions or in any language of their choice in private educational institutions (art. 4(1) IQ Const.). This approach is a clearly pluralistic one<sup>179</sup>, although the country is still defined as an Arab nation (art. 3 IQ Const.), an addition made upon insistence of many members of the Sunni Arab population<sup>180</sup>. But the Iraqi Constitution cements its pluralistic approach in the same article, defining Iraq as a country of 'many nationalities, religions and sects'. Interestingly, the country has then taken a drastically different stance than its northern neighbor, its multicultural position standing in clear contrast with Turkey's homogenizing approach (*supra* C/1.2). It has also clearly departed from the nationalistic approach of the Saddam Hussein regime<sup>181</sup>.

Although the Iraqi Constitution seems favorable to LMR, there remain areas of concern. As mentioned earlier, the right to mother tongue education is an especially crucial linguistic minority right, allowing minority languages to survive (*supra* C/3). Though this right is guaranteed in art. 4 IQ Const., its scope remains unclear<sup>182</sup>. The right to mother tongue education could be limited in practice<sup>183</sup>, as it is to be exercised in compliance with 'educational guidelines' (art. 4 IQ Const.). These guidelines are not defined anywhere in Iraqi legislation<sup>184</sup>. From this observation, scholar Bowring concludes that the right to mother tongue education enshrined in the Constitution is nothing but an 'empty promise'<sup>185</sup>. More generally, the Iraqi constitution requires legislation that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> KEIL/ANDERSON, p. 1; O'LEARY, p. 23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> NATALI, p. 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> GHAI/COTTRELL, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> GHAI/COTTRELL, p. 6; MUTUA, p. 14.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> MUTUA, pp. 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> FERNANDES/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> GHAI/COTTRELL, p. 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> *ibidem*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> BOWRING, p. 345.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> ibidem.

specifies the rights it grants and provides mechanisms for their implementation<sup>186</sup> – a necessary step which has not been taken yet by the legislative<sup>187</sup>.

This lack of precision and enforcement mechanism is also present in relation to art. 125 IQ Const., which provides "This Constitution shall guarantee the administrative, political, cultural, and educational rights of the various nationalities, such as Turkmen, Chaldeans, Assyrians, and all other constituents, and this shall be regulated by law". Such law has not been enacted to this day, leaving this provision, crucial for linguistic minorities, vastly ineffective<sup>188</sup>.

Contrastively, some scholars argue that linguistic human rights, especially those in the field of education, are now protected and respected in Iraq thanks to its new Constitution<sup>189</sup>. As Fernandes/Skutnabb-Kangas write regarding Kurdish regions in Iraq: "... Kurdish children in Kurdistan have Kurdish as their medium of education in all subjects. (...) Assyrian, Turkmen, and Arabic language children (...) are taught through Assyrian/Syriac, Turkmen and Arabic. (...) The minorities have their own Departments in the Ministry of Education, each with their own Director General"<sup>190</sup>. One could therefore conclude that, despite its obvious and grave flaws, the Iraqi Constitution provides to an extent for LMR. However, legislation detailing and enforcing the rights mentioned above remains necessary, as a few constitutional dispositions are not sufficient to ensure LMR on their own<sup>191</sup>.

## 3. Linguistic Rights of Kurds

Though Kurdish is now considered an official language in Iraq, it remains relevant to analyze its position as a minority language. Indeed, Arabic is still the most spoken language in the country, making Kurdish a minority language in the numerical sense of the term. Furthermore, Kurds have historically faced repression and forced assimilation<sup>192</sup>. As O'Leary notes, "the history of Iraqi Kurdistan before 1991 is the history of destruction and displacement"<sup>193</sup>. Unsurprisingly, this situation was catastrophic for LMR. For example, the right to mother tongue education was not guaranteed, all education in South Kurdistan being in Arabic during Saddam Hussain's regime<sup>194</sup>. It is then of importance to assess whether the linguistic rights of the Kurdish population are effectively respected in Iraq now that they are granted by the Constitution.

The situation of LMR of the Kurdish population seems to have largely improved over the last decades: Kurds now have access to mother tongue education and are no longer forced to speak or learn Arabic<sup>195</sup>. Kurdish dialects are generally accepted and respected<sup>196</sup>. This situation marks a stark contrast with the language shift currently happening in the Kurdish population in Turkey, forced into assimilation (*supra* C/3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> *ibidem*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> BOWRING, p. 345.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> FERNANDES/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, p. 48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> *ibidem*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Bowring, p. 345; Mutua, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> MISTAFFA, p. 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> O'LEARY, p. 20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Fernandes/Skutnabb-Kangas, p. 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> ibidem.

Nonetheless, tension subsists between the Kurds and Baghdad. Kurdish demands have had a tendency to turn into secessionist claims, with a recent peak in September 2017 when a referendum was organized in the Kurdish region on the question of independence from Iraq<sup>197</sup>. An astounding 90% of voters were in favor of independence for the Kurdish region<sup>198</sup>. This seems to confirm the fear that federalism in Iraq only encourages fragmentation and ethnic nationalism (*supra* D/1.2). Regarding LMR specifically, this situation does not necessarily contradict the observation that LMR have generally improved in the country; it simply underlines that much remains to be done to implement and protect them on the long term<sup>199</sup>.

#### 4. Linguistic Rights of Other Minorities

As is the case in Turkey (*supra* C/4), Kurdish demands in Iraq tend to overshadow other minorities', who are now growing increasingly weary of the rising tension between the Kurds and Baghdad<sup>200</sup>. Yazidis, Sabeans and Shabek minorities, as well as Iraqi Christians, fear assimilation and a worsening social situation as backlash from Baghdad against Kurdish activism in the country<sup>201</sup>. Christians have for example protested the decline of their possibilities for political participation in the country's government, subsequently facing violence and multiple assassinations by unknown sources<sup>202</sup>.

Assyrians in particular are deserving of attention, as "the end of totalitarian regime and Iraqi democratization process is connected with the re-emergence of a more than a century-old Assyrian question"<sup>203</sup>. The community is a Christian minority, representing about 3% of the Iraqi population, and speaks languages such as Assyrian, Syriac and Chaldean<sup>204</sup>. They have faced considerable violence over the last decades. Iraqi authorities have destroyed 200 Assyrian villages in the country from the 1960s to the mid 2000s. The advance of ISIS in 2014 has had a disastrous impact on the community, facing forced conversion to Islam and displacement<sup>205</sup>. The Iraqi government has failed to protect them, and many have therefore emigrated to the West<sup>206</sup>. However, the situation of Assyrians in Iraqi Kurdistan is rather stable and far from unbearable<sup>207</sup>. Their cultural rights, including linguistic rights, are protected within that territory<sup>208</sup>. It is for example worth noting that 30 Assyrian language schools have been supported by local government funding<sup>209</sup>. This situation is however exceptional, and Assyrians continue facing discrimination in the rest of Iraq<sup>210</sup>. Additionally, Assyrians have also been historically mistreated by Kurds, hence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> HACCIUS, p. 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> BOWRING, p. 345; MUTUA, p. 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> KATZMAN, p. 9.

 $<sup>^{201}</sup>$  ibidem.

 $<sup>^{202}</sup>$  ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Вона́с, р. 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Minority Rights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Petrosian, p. 140.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> *ibidem*.

fearing an eventual turnaround of their current situation even in South Kurdistan<sup>211</sup>. (Linguistic) rights of Assyrians are therefore rather precarious and worth further monitoring in the future.

## E) Linguistic Minority Rights in Lebanon

## 1. Context

#### 1.1 Demography and Historical Overview

Contrary to Turkey and Iraq, Lebanon is an ethnically homogenous country<sup>212</sup> almost entirely composed of a semitic population<sup>213</sup>. According to the European Commission, 95% of its 4.7 million inhabitants are ethnically Arab, with a remaining 5% of Armenians and Kurds<sup>214</sup>. The country is then mostly known as a mosaic for its astounding religious diversity<sup>215</sup>, with 18 different sects juxtaposed on its small territory<sup>216</sup>. It is however difficult to obtain accurate and recent demographic information, as the last official census in Lebanon was conducted in 1932<sup>217</sup>.

From a linguistic point of view, Lebanon is surprisingly homogenous, Lebanese Arabic being the main language of communication throughout the country<sup>218</sup> and the mother tongue of a vast majority of the population<sup>219</sup>. Languages such as English and French are also commonly used as a result of Lebanon's colonial history and close relationship to the West<sup>220</sup>. Other linguistic communities are rather small: Armenian and Kurdish can be found in Lebanon, as well as other languages such as Arabic dialects other than Lebanese, Chaldean, Turkish or Greek<sup>221</sup>.

As the country is ethnically and linguistically rather homogenous but religiously diverse, it is therefore no wonder that literature focusing on Lebanon's legal system focuses mostly on religious power-sharing, as each sect develops parallel but separate legal orders and social institutions<sup>222</sup>. Power-sharing also raises the question of the coexistence of religious communities, as the country has established a consociational democracy as early as 1943 with the so-called National Pact<sup>223</sup>. It has been argued that the Lebanese government's function is currently primarily a judicial one: it adjudicates claims between the different religious communities according to unwritten rules<sup>224</sup>. In this sense, Lebanon is, similarly to Iraq (*supra* E/1), a deeply divided society with a rather weak state<sup>225</sup>.

 $<sup>^{211}</sup>$  ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup> Azzi, p. 27; Nammour, p. 425.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> NAMMOUR, p. 425.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Azzi, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> Abouchedid/Bou Zeid, p. 59; Azzi, p. 7.

 $<sup>^{216}</sup>$  Abouchedid/Bou Zeid, p. 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> SAOULI, p. 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> NAMMOUR, p. 425.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Iriarte Diez, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Iriarte Diez, p. 5; Nammour, p. 425.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Chamie, p. 181; Saouli, p. 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> SAOULI, p. 74.

<sup>224</sup> DONOHUE, р. 2529; SMOCK/SMOCK, р. 166.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> SAOULI, p. 67.

#### 1.2 Lebanese Identity and Languages

It seems scholarly research tends to focus more on the role of languages in the shaping of Lebanese identity than on Lebanon's linguistic minorities. The use of Arabic, English or French is endowed with important social and religious connotations<sup>226</sup>. Christian communities tend to speak French, whereas a focus on Arabic is preferred by most members of Muslim communities<sup>227</sup>. English is preferred for a big part of higher education as well as business<sup>228</sup>.

There is a core ideological question resting at the center of these linguistic matters: is Lebanon an Arab country?<sup>229</sup> Two major understandings of nationalism have been competing since the country's very creation<sup>230</sup>: it has been debated "whether, metaphorically, Lebanon belongs to the desert or to the Mediterranean Sea<sup>231</sup>. Language plays a central role in this national debate<sup>232</sup>. Maronite Christians have always been close to the French, as they have historically been trusted as the community's protectors and allies<sup>233</sup>. The French language has been popular among Christians ever since and instrumental in spreading Phoenicianist ideologies<sup>234</sup>. In parallel, many Arab nationalist movements in Lebanon, used Arabic as a symbol of their struggle against colonial powers, with the language being Lebanon's link to the rest of the Arab world to whom it belongs<sup>235</sup>. It is then no surprise that attacks on bi- or trilingualism tend to come in times of tensions between Lebanon's various religious communities, linguistic claims having clear confessional-political implications<sup>236</sup>. It is this national identity question, and not linguistic minorities, that occupy the country's discourse on languages.

#### 2. Linguistic Minority Rights in Lebanese Law

There are few legal dispositions concerning languages in Lebanese law. The Lebanese Constitution states that Standard Arabic is the country's official language (art. 11 LB Const.)<sup>237</sup> since its independence in 1943<sup>238</sup>. Standard Arabic is then the official language which is meant to be taught in public primary and secondary schools<sup>239</sup>, Lebanese Arabic the language of common use<sup>240</sup>. However, despite much effort to promote Arabic in education<sup>241</sup>, most subjects are taught in a foreign language<sup>242</sup>, with French remaining the language of an educated Christian elite through the legacy of Jesuit schools<sup>243</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> NAMMOUR, p. 425.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 6; SAYIGH, p. 120. <sup>231</sup> GORDON, p. 114.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> AL-BATAL, p. 95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 6; REINKOWSKI, p. 67; SAOULI, p. 74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> BIZRI, p. 445; DIEZ, p. 6; SAYIGH, p. 125.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 6; SAYIGH, p. 123. <sup>236</sup> SAYIGH, p. 120.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 5, NAMMOUR, p. 425.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> NAMMOUR, p. 426.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> NAMMOUR, p. 425. <sup>241</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> AZZI, p. 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> IRIARTE DIEZ, p. 5; SHAABAN/GAITH, pp. 4-12.

Art. 11 LB Const. adds that a law will determine the cases in which French will be used<sup>244</sup>. Such a law has never been drafted (and might never be), the country having most likely many more pressing issues to focus on<sup>245</sup>. The status of languages in Lebanon then remains unclear, since the country lacks legislation defining what language is to be used in given situations<sup>246</sup>.

Besides, there is no trace of LMR in Lebanon. The only rights granted to communities are religious rights (art. 9 and 10 LB Const.), with the Constitution recognizing 17 different sects since 1926<sup>247</sup>.

This lack of comprehensive legislation is most likely the result of having a weak state only producing minimal legislation<sup>248</sup>. The delicate sectarian balance in Lebanon has frozen the government in a lethargic position, rendering it incapable – or unwilling – to implement effective political programs<sup>249</sup>. Contrary to other Arab states that tend to have a strong executive, Lebanon suffers from weaknesses in all branches and on all levels of government<sup>250</sup>.

## 3. Linguistic Minorities' Situation in Lebanon

As stated above, Lebanese law does not foresee any specific LMR (*supra* E/2). The only articles that could be of relevance concerning such rights are art. 7 and 8 LB Const. which guarantee respectively equal treatment of all Lebanese and individual liberty. The crucial question to answer is then: how does such a legal context affect the situation of linguistic minorities in Lebanon, i.e. Armenian or Kurdish speakers?

Many Armenians have emigrated to Lebanon fleeing the Armenian Genocide in 1915<sup>251</sup>. The Armenian diaspora in Lebanon then grew drastically after World War I<sup>252</sup>. Since then, it has been systematically described as a perfectly integrated minority group, while avoiding assimilation to Lebanese society<sup>253</sup>. Members of this community still speak Armenian and practice their own form of Christianity in the Armenian Catholic Church<sup>254</sup>. Despite their attachment to their own identity as Lebanese Armenians, many members of that group speak of Lebanon as their homeland<sup>255</sup>. Therefore, the absence of LMR in Lebanon does not seem to have hindered the process of maintaining their own cultural identity while successfully becoming part of Lebanese society<sup>256</sup>. This is most likely due in part to Armenians' belonging to Christianity, which has pushed Lebanese Maronites to welcome Armenian immigration and even take active steps to facilitate their integration in the country<sup>257</sup>.

- <sup>245</sup> Munoz, n. 17.
- <sup>246</sup> ibidem.
- <sup>247</sup> Donohue, p. 2510.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> NAMMOUR, p. 426.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Makdisi/Marktanner, p. 3; Sleiman, p. 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Makdisi/Marktanner, p. 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> SLEIMAN, p. 28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Abramson, p. 191.

 $<sup>^{252}</sup>$  ibidem.

 $<sup>^{253}</sup>$  Abramson, p. 192; Nalbantian, 303.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Abramson, p. 191.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Schahgaldian, 227.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Abramson, p. 191.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> ABRAMSON, p. 191; TACHJIAN, p. 75.

The situation is not as ideal for Kurdish communities in Lebanon. Kurds started to immigrate to Lebanon after the first World War, fleeing Turkish repression<sup>258</sup>. Many more fled violence in Syria and found refuge in Lebanon in the 1960s<sup>259</sup>. But the population was not so welcoming to them: the Lebanese government has simply ignored the Kurds altogether, even refusing to give them Lebanese citizenship<sup>260</sup>. This has meant less violence and repression than in Turkey and Syria but was far from an ideal situation<sup>261</sup>. Indeed, Kurdish communities remain marginalized in Lebanon to this day<sup>262</sup>. However, the lack of legislation and action aiming to suppress Kurdish culture seems to have allowed Kurds, despite the absence of LMR, to maintain their culture and language, albeit in the margins of Lebanese society<sup>263</sup>.

## F) Comparative Perspectives

It is clear that Turkey has a much more extensive body of legislation (*supra* C/2) than Iraq (*supra* D/2) or Lebanon (*supra* E/2). This seems logical, given the vastly different situations of Turkey on the one hand, and Iraq and Lebanon on the other hand. Turkey is a strong nation-state that creates substantive legislations – legislation that might reinforce in turn its position as a powerful State, the two aspects allowing and supporting each other (*supra* C/1.2). In contrast, Iraq and Lebanon both found themselves at a turning point in their history, struggling with ethnic or religious cleavages (*supra* D/1.1 and E/1.1), as well as profound economic difficulties. Both states are fragile: Iraq is left with a weak central government after delegating much of its power to regional authorities in their turn towards federalism (*supra* D/1.2), and Lebanon struggles to function with a State paralyzed on all levels by clientelism<sup>264</sup> and religious-based fragmentation (*supra* E/1). Such extreme situations do not leave much capacity for the drafting of extensive legislation on LMR. However, it is clear that linguistic minorities' situation is currently much better in Iraq (*supra* D/3 and D/4) and Lebanon (*supra* E/3) than in Turkey (*supra* C/3 and C/4). It seems that the lack of legislative efforts regarding linguistic minorities allows a form of freedom that the strong, homogenizing language policies of the Turkish government do not.

It would nonetheless be wrong to fully equate Iraq and Lebanon regarding LMR. Iraq's Constitution directly addresses the question of minority languages and has made institutional and legislative efforts – albeit imperfect ones – to solve questions of minority rights through federalism (*supra* D/2). Lebanon, on the other hand, has simply ignored the issue altogether, its main focus remaining religious tensions within the country (*supra* E/1.1). The main discourse regarding languages centers on questions of national identity and the use of foreign Western languages in daily life rather than the protection of LMR (*supra* E/1.2).

Further, we have seen how certain linguistic ideologies can be pushed by a State in order to justify certain policies concerning minority rights. In that aspect, it seems relevant to highlight how

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> ABRAMSON, p. 210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Abramson, p. 210; McDowall, p. 485.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Abramson, p. 210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> ibidem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> cf. NIZAR Hamzeh A., Clientalism, Lebanon: Roots and Trends, Middle Eastern Studies, Vol. 37, No. 3 (2001), pp. 167-178; HARIK I., The Iqta System in Lebanon: A Comparative Political View, Middle East Journal (1965), pp.405-12.

Turkey's national narratives center around an idea of Turkish supremacy and a denial of any cultural and linguistic diversity withing its territory (*supra* C/1.2). The idea of Turkish as a superior language – and in fact, the only existing language in the country – is used to justify legislations that have devastating effects on linguistic minorities, especially on Kurdish communities, their main targets. Whereas Turkey uses linguistic ideologies to promote Turkish hegemony and cultural homogeneity, much of the national Lebanese narrative insists on plurality, in terms of cultural and religious diversity. Similarly, Iraq recognizes its cultural and religious plurality, even explicitly mentioning its "multiple nationalities, religions, and sects" in the Constitution (art. 3 IQ Const.). Although it is inevitable that a state favors some languages by choosing official ones, the example of Lebanon and Iraq evidently show that national narratives can avoid the promotion of homogeneity and linguicide and even contribute to the safeguard of local linguistic diversity.

In any case, it is clear – and somewhat self-evident – that greater representation and autonomy given to linguistic minorities, as well as the explicit recognition of minority languages, are the best way to protect linguistic diversity within a territory. This is well exemplified by Iraq, where the Kurdish community as well as other linguistic minorities now have the freedom to write, teach, broadcast and communicate altogether in the language of their choice (*supra* D/3 and D/4). Though the situation in Iraq is far from ideal because of matters left unsolved by their Constitution and a defaulting government, the country's change towards federalism seems to have allowed the building of regions where linguistic minorities thrive (*supra* D/3 and D/4). This is consistent with much of the literature on federalism<sup>265</sup> and echoes the idea that, on a collective level, LMR imply control over minority groups' educational system as well as representation in the State's politics (*supra* B/1).

## G) Conclusion

Language rights are obligations on states to not interfere with linguistic choices of private parties and/or to promote the use of certain languages. They have many iterations, sometimes as individual rights, sometimes as collective ones. Further, the object of protection of language rights varies from the freedom to use one's language of choice to languages themselves. LMR are then, as their denomination suggest, language rights that apply to linguistic minorities specifically, addressing their particular needs and the distinct challenges that they might face (*supra* B/1). Such efforts are of pressing importance given the rate at which much of the world's linguistic diversity vanishes (*supra* A). Regrettably, international law still does not provide for sufficient protection of LMR, though some dispositions do permit some (*supra* B/3). The importance of national law is then enhanced and must be analyzed. This is especially relevant in the Near East, a region of exceptional ethnic, linguistic and religious diversity. We have therefore analyzed LMR in the Turkish, Iraqi and Lebanese contexts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> See for example SOFI Waseem Ahmad Sofi/FLEINER T. F., Constitutional Democracy in a Multicultural and Globalised World, Berlin/London 2009, p. 538-539; Cyr H., Autonomy, Subsidarity, Solidarity: Foundations of Cooperative Federalism, Constitutional Forum, Vol. 23, No. 4 (2014), pp. 20-40; Ghai, Y., Autonomy and Ethnicity: Negotiating Competing Claims in Multi-ethnic States, New York 2000, pp. 23-24; FLEINER T. F., Constitutional Democracy In a Multicultural and Globalised World, London/Berlin 2009, p. 521; ELAZAR D.J., Religious diversity and federalism, International social science journal, March 2001, pp. 61-65, p. 65; GAGNON A.-G./TREM-BLAY A. (Eds.), Federalism and National Diversity in the 21st Century, New York 2020.

Turkey, a highly centralized state, does not recognize LMR. On the contrary, the Turkish government has consistently repressed the use of any language other than Turkish, going as far as to deny the existence of any minority languages in the country (*supra* C/1.2). The State has created extensive legislation regarding languages and its policies have aimed for the marginalization and eventual disappearance of minority languages within the country. Turkish law has outlawed the use of minority languages in a number of contexts (*supra* C/2). Though Kurdish was especially targeted by such measures (*supra* C/3), other minority languages such as Arabic are endangered as well (*supra* C/4).

By contrast, Iraq adopts more of a pluralistic approach concerning linguistic minorities, even describing itself as a country of many nationalities and religions in its constitution. Its (relatively new) federal structure affords a vast autonomy to linguistic minorities, especially to Kurds (*supra* D/2). Linguistic minorities are hence able to decide on their own education and use the language of their choice in any given context (*supra* D/3 and 4). Though the political situation in Iraq is far from ideal and many constitutional questions remain uncleared, the country seems to guarantee LMR to a large extent. The situation of linguistic minorities living in Iraq is therefore vastly different – and unequivocally better – than that of minorities living in Turkey.

Lastly, Lebanon does not consider any LMR. The country only foresees one constitutional article in regard to language, and essentially limits itself to choosing Arabic as the official language (*supra* E/2). Mostly preoccupied by its religious divides, Lebanon seems to ignore linguistic minorities altogether (*supra* E/3). This lack of language policies grants them substantive freedom. Nonetheless, the preservation and promotion of linguistic diversity does necessitate active measures from the State (*supra* B/1). The situation of linguistic minorities, especially that of Kurds, could hence be improved in Lebanon. This is however highly unlikely, as the country seems to have much more pressing considerations to focus on.

It is therefore clear that the three countries have adopted vastly different positions regarding LMR: Turkey actively fights against them, Iraq protects them to some extent and Lebanon ignores them altogether. The different approaches can be analyzed through the prism of the countries' political contexts, state structure and linguistic ideologies. It seems however evident that a strong and centralized state leaning towards undemocratic tendencies such as Turkey will be likely to use linguistic ideologies to establish its power. This leads assuredly to linguicidal policies<sup>266</sup> aiming to impose ethnic and cultural homogeneity and suppress political opposition to the central government<sup>267</sup>. Pushing this reasoning further, decentralization seems to help promoting linguistic diversity and foster LMR, as exemplified by Iraq's minorities' situation. In general, a weak state with a *laisser-faire* approach such as Lebanon is still evidently more positive for LMR than strong policies forcing assimilation.

It is however important to keep in mind that a host of innumerable factors can further – or hinder – LMR. Our analysis is therefore inevitably a flattening of the examined countries' realities and an oversimplification of the issue of LMR. This only highlights the need for linguistic minorities' implication in the drafting of international and national laws concerning the fate of their communities, culture and language.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> PHILLIPSON/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, p. 483; see also: Brenzinger Matthias (Ed.), Language death: factual and theoretical explorations with special reference to East Africa, Berlin 1992.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> MOMBRAY, p. 308.

As stressed at the beginning of this paper, legal institutions cannot remain passive when faced with the extinction of much of the world's linguistic diversity. As Phillipson/Skutnabb-Kangas write: "A more appropriate metaphor than language death, which seems to imply natural causes for the demise of a language, might be language murder, since it has frequently been a conscious policy of the dominant group to eliminate minority languages"<sup>268</sup>. If the nation-state has played a central role in the homogenization of culture around the globe<sup>269</sup>, it is its responsibility to protect linguistic minorities from disappearance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> PHILLIPSON/SKUTNABB-KANGAS, p. 483.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> RASSOOL, p. 89.

Abouchedid K. & Bou Zeid M., Lebanon: Legacy of the past and present challenges, in Kirdar S. (ed.), *Education in the Arab world*, London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2017, 59-84.

Abramson S., Lebanese Armenians: A Distinctive Community in the Armenian Diaspora and in Lebanese Society, The Levantine Review 2 (2), 2013, 188-216.

Al-Batal M., Identity and language tension in Lebanon: The Arabic of the local news at LBCI, in Rouchdy A. (ed.), *Language Contact and Language Conflict in Arabic: Variations on a Sociolinguistic Theme*, London: Routledge, 2002, 91-115.

Allawi A., *The Occupation of Iraq: Winning the War, Losing the Peace*, Yale: Yale University Press, 2007.

Arzoz X., Accommodating Linguistic Difference: Five Normative Models of Language Rights, *European Constitutional Review*, 6 (1), 2010, 102-122.

Aytürk I., Turkish Linguists against the West: The Origins of Linguistic Nationalism in Atatürk's Turkey, *Middle Easter Studies*, 40 (6), 2004, 1-25.

Azzi R., Attitudes toward Teaching English in Lebanon: An Exercise in Critical Applied Linguistics, thesis for the degree of Doctor of Education, University of Exeter, 2021.

Baldwin C. & Kaya N., *Minorities in Turkey: Submission to the European Union and the Gov*ernment of Turkey, London: Minority Rights Group International, 2004.

Barnard F. M., National Culture and Political Legitimacy: Herder and Rousseau, *Journal of the History of Ideas*, 44, 1983, 231-253.

Bayir D., Minorities and Nationalism in Turkish Law, London: Routledge, 2013.

Bermeo N., The import of Institutions, Journal of Democracy, 13(2), 2002, 96-110.

Besikci I., Bilim-Resmi Ideoloji Devlet-Demokrasi ve Kurt Sorunu, Ankara: İsmail Beşikçi Vakfı Yayınları, 1991.

Bizri F., Linguistic Green Lines in Lebanon, Mediterranean Politics, 18(3), 2013, 444-459.

Boháč A., Efforts of Political Emancipation of Assyrians in Post-Saddam Iraq, *Contemporary European Studies*, 2009, 151-159.

Bowring B., Minority rights in post-war Iraq: An Impending Catastrophe?, *International Journal of Contemporary Iraqi Studies*, 5(3), 2012, 319-335.

Brancati D., Can federalism stabilize Iraq?, Washington Quarterly, 27(2), 2010, 5-21.

Bratt Paulston C., Language Policies and Language Rights, *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 26, 1997, 73-85.

Çelebi E., Verkuyten M. & Smyrnioti N., Support for Kurdish language rights in Turkey: the roles of ethnic group, group identifications, contact and intergroup perceptions, *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 39(6), 2016, 1034-1051.

Chamie J., The Lebanese Civil War: An Investigation into the Causes, *World Affairs*, 139, No. (3), 1977, 171-188.

Çolak Y., Cultural Diversity and Official Ideology in Post-Cold War Turkey: Towards a Multicultural Integration?, *UNU-CRIS e-working paper*, 2004.

Coulombe P. A., Language Rights in French Canada, New York: Peter Lang Publishing, 1997.

Crystal D., *The Cambridge Encyclopedia of Language*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994 (quot. Crystal, *The Cambridge Encyclopedia*).

Crystal D., Language Death, Cambridge : Cambridge University Press, 2000 (quot. Crystal, Language Death).

De Varennes F., Equality and Non-Discrimination: Fundamental Principles of Minority Language Rights, *International Journal on Minority and Group Rights*, 6(3), 307-318.

Derince M. Ş., A break or continuity? Turkey's politics of Kurdish language in the new millennium, *Dialectical Anthropology*, 37(1), 2013, 145-152.

Donohue J. J., Changing the Lebanese Constitution: A Postmodern History, *Cardozo Law Review*, 30(6), 2009, 2509-2534.

Dunbar R., *Minority Languages Rights in International Law*, The International and Comparative Law Quarterly, 50(1), 2001, 90-120.

Feldman N. & Martinez R., Constitutional Politics and Text in the New Iraq: An Experiment in Islamic Democracy, *Fordham Law Review*, 75 (2), 2006, 883-920.

Fernandes D.& Skutnabb-Kangas T., Kurds in Turkey and in (Iraqi) Kurdistan – a comparison of Kurdish educational language policy in two situations of occupation, *Genocide Studies and Prevention*, 3(1), 2008, 43-73.

Fuccaro N., Ethnicity, state formation, and conscription in postcolonial Iraq: The case of the Yazidi Kurds of Jabal Sinjar, *International Journal of Middle East Studies*, 29(4), 1997, 559-580.

Ghai Y., *Autonomy as a Strategy for Diffusing Conflict*, in Stern P. & Druckman D. (eds.), *International conflict resolution after the cold war*, Washington: The National Academies Press, 2000, 483-530.

Ghai Y. & Cottrell J., *A Review of the Constitution in Iraq*, <u>https://media.law.</u> wisc.edu/s/c 8/ftfkf/arotcoi.pdf, consulted on March 15<sup>th</sup> 2023.

Giordan H., Les minorités en Europe : droits linguistiques et Droits de l'Homme, Paris : Editions Kimé, 1992.

Gordon D. C., *The Arabic Language and National Identity: The Cases of Algeria and of Lebanon*, in: Beer W. R. & Jacob J. E. (Eds..), *Language Policy and National Unity*, London: Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, 1985, 134-150.

Haccius L., *The Making and Breaking of Federalism in Iraq*, IFF Working Paper Online No. 26, Fribourg 2018.

Hale K., On endangered languages and the importance of linguistic diversity, in Grenoble Lenore A. & Whaley L. J. (eds.), *Endangered Languages: Current Issues and Future Prospects*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998, 192-216.

Herther-Spiro N. B, Can Ethnic Federalism Prevent Recourse to Rebellion - A Comparative Analysis of the Ethiopian and Iraqi Constitutional Structures, *Emory International Law Review*, 21(1), 2007, 321-372.

Hornberger N. H., Language Policy, Language Education, Language Rights: Indigenous, Immigrant, and International Perspectives, *Language in Society*, 27(4), 1998, 439-458.

Iriarte Diez A., Language and Revolution: Arabic in Lebanon after the October Revolution as a case study, *Journal of Arabic and Islamic Studies*, 21, 2021, 5-37.

Saad J., The Iraqi constitution: structural flaws and political implications, *LSE Middle East Centre Paper Series*, LSE Middle East Centre, London, 2013.

Kakizaki M., Human Rights in Turkey, Insight Turkey, 10(3), 2008, 159-163.

Kamusella T., *Nationalism and National Languages*, in Tollefson J. W. & Pérez-Milans M. (eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Language Policy*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2018, 163-185.

Katzman K., The Kurds in Post-Saddam Iraq, Congressional Research Service Report for Congress, 2010.

Keil S. & Anderson P., *Decentralization as a Tool for Conflict Resolution*, Canterbury Christ Church University 2018, available at: <u>http://www.academia.edu/31563237/Federal-ism A Tool for Conflict Resolution.pdf</u>, consulted on March 17<sup>th</sup> 2023.

Keller P., Re Thinking Ethic and Cultural Rights in Europe, *Oxford Journal of Legal Studies*, 18(1), 1998, 29-59.

Kili S., Turkish Constitutional Developments: An Appraisal, *Capital University Law Review*, 21(4), 1992, 1059-1079.

Kilinç Ü., *La liberté d'expression en Turquie à l'épreuve de la Convention européenne des droits de l'Homme*, Paris : L'Harmattan Editeurs, 2010.

Kirişçi K., The Kurdish Issue in Turkey: Limits of European Union Reform, *South European Society and Politics*, 16 (2), 2011, 335–349.

Kloss H., *Language rights of immigrant groups*, International Migration Review, 5(2), 1971, 250-268.

Kroskrity P., Language ideologies: Evolving perspectives, *Society and Language Use*, 2010, 192-211.

Kumaraswamy P.R., Problems of Studying Minorities in the Middle East, *Alternatives: Turkish journal of international relations*, 2(2), 2003, 244-264.

Kurrild-Klitgaard P., Blood, Baath and beyond: The constitutional dilemma of Iraq, *Public Choice*, 119, 2004, 13-30.

Kymlicka W. & Patten A., Introduction: Language Rights and Political Theory: Context, Issues, and Approaches, in Kymlicka W. & Patten A. (eds.), *Language Rights and Political Theory*, Oxford 2003, 1-51.

Lalik K., Towards a Comprehensive Methodological conception for Analysing Language Policy in Kurdistan, *Bulletin of Kurdish studies*, 7-8, 2015, 56-76.

Liaras Evangelos G. & Somer M., Turkey's New Kurdish Opening: Religious versus Secular Values, *Middle East Policy*, 17(2), 2010, 152-163.

Leinonen A., Reversing the Language Shift from Kurdish to Turkish, in Bilmez B. (ed.), *Language Rights and Linguistic Pluralism in Turkey*, Istanbul: Türkiye Kültüreli, 2021, 85-115.

Leontiev A. A., Linguistic human rights and educational policy in Russia, in: Phillipson R. & Skutnabb-Kangas T. (eds.), *Linguistic Human Rights: Overcoming Linguistic Discrimination*, Berlin 1995, 63-70.

Lewis G. E., *Bilingualism and Bilingual Education: A Comparative Study*, New Mexico: University of New Mexico Press, 1980.

Makdisi S. & Marktanner M., Trapped by Consociationalism: The Case of Lebanon, *Topics in Middle Eastern and North African Economies* (online), 11, 2009, Middle East Economic Association and Loyola University Chicago.

Mancini S. & de Witte B., Language Rights as Cultural Rights: A European Perspective, in: Francioni F. & Scheinin M. (eds.), *Cultural Human Rights as Human Rights*, The Hague: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 2008, 247-285.

May S., Language and Minority Rights: Ethnicity, Nationalism and the Politics of Language, London: Routledge, 2012.

McDowall D., A Modern History of the Kurds, New York: Bloomsbury Publishing, 2004.

McGarry J. & O'Leary B., Iraq's Constitution of 2005: Liberal consociation as political prescription, in Oxford University Press and New York University School of Law, 5(4), 2007, 670-698.

Miles R., Racism, London/New York: Routledge, 1989.

Mistaffa Jalal H., The Kurds in Iraq: Problem and Solution Attempts, *Journal of Political and Security Studies*, 128(1), 2018, 127-156.

Mombray J., Ethnic Minorities and Language Rights: The State, Identity and Culture in International Legal Discourse, *Studies in Ethnicity and Nationalism*, 6(1), 2006, 2-29.

Morrow J., Iraq's Constitutional Process II: An Opportunity Lost, USIP 155, 2005.

Munoz L., La géopolitique pour comprendre le contexte socio-culturel libanais et ses pratiques linguistiques, *Contextes et Didactiques* (online), 5, 2014.

Mutua M., The Iraq Paradox: Minority and Group Rights in a Viable Constitution, *Buffalo Law Review*, 54(3), 2006, 927-956.

Nalbantian T., Fashioning Armenians in Lebanon, 1946-1958 (Ph.D. Dissertation, Columbia University, 2011).

Nammour J., Les identités au Liban, entre complexité et perplexité, Cités, 1(29), 2007, 49-58.

Naseef N., Die neue bundesstaatliche Ordnung des Irak, *Leipziger Beiträge zur Orientforschung*, 2008.

Natali D., Can Federalism Work in Iraq?, *Event Report, Institute for national strategic studies*, 2011.

O'Leary C. A., The Kurds of Iraq: Recent History, Future Prospects, *Middle East Review of In*ternational Affairs, 6(4), 2002, 17-29.

Öpengin E., Sociolinguistic Situation of Kurdish in Turkey: Sociopolitical Factors and Language Use Patterns, *International Journal of the Sociology of Language*, 217, 2012, 151-180.

Ozden Leyla, Der Föderalismus in Im Irak – Die Nachkriegsordnung in der Kontroverse, *European University Studies*, Frankfurt am Main 2009.

Petrosian V., Assyrians in Iraq, Iran and the Caucasus, 10(1), 2006, 113-147.

Pfiffner J., US Blunders in Iraq: De-Baathification and Disbanding the Army, *Intelligence and National Security*, 25(1), 2010, 76-85.

Phillipson R. & Skutnabb-Kangas T., *Linguistic Human Rights, Past and Present*, in Phillipson R. & Skutnabb-Kangas T. (eds.), *Linguistic Human Rights: Overcoming Linguistic Discrimination*, Berlin: De Gruyter Mouton, 1995, 71-110 (quot. Phillipson/Skutnabb-Kangas, *Linguistic Human Rights*).

Phillipson R. & Skutnabb-Kangas T., *Linguistic rights and wrongs*, in Skutnabb-Kangas T. & Phillipson R. (Eds.), *Language Rights*, London/New York: Routledge, 2017, 483-504 (quot. Phillipson/Skutnabb-Kangas, *Linguistic rights and wrongs*).

Pinker S., The Language Instinct, New York: Harper Perennial, 1994.

Rassool N., Postmodernity, Cultural Pluralism and the Nation-State: Problems of Language Rights, Human Rights, Identity and Power, *Language Sciences*, 20(1), 1998, 89-99.

Réaume D. G., The Constitutional Protection of Language: Survival or Security?, in Schneiderman D., *Language and the State: The Law and Politics of Identity*, Montréal: Les éditions Yvon Blais, 1991, 39-45.

Reinkowski M., Constitutional Patriotism in Lebanon, *New perspectives on Turkey*, 16, 1997, 63-85.

Sagnic C., Mountain Turks: State ideology and the Kurds in Turkey, *Information, Society and Justice*, 3(2), 2010, 127-134.

Saouli A., Sectarianism and Political Order in Iraq and Lebanon, *Studies in Ethnicity and Nationalism*, 19(1), 2019.

Sayigh R., The Bilingualism Controversy in Lebanon, The World Today, 21(3), 1965, 120-130.

Schahgaldian N., *The Political Integration of an Immigrant Community into a Composite Society: The Armenians in Lebanon, 1920-1974*, PhD Dissertation (1979), Columbia University.

Shaaban K. A.& Ghaith G., Lebanon's language-in-education policies: From bilingualism to trilingualism, *Language Problems and Language Planning*, 23(1), 1999, 1-16.

Sleiman I., La justice constitutionnelle et la primauté du droit : perspectives de changement à la lumière des mutations arabes, *Annuaire du Conseil constitutionnel de la République Libanaise*, 5, 2011, 25-33.

Smith-Kocamahhul J., In the Shadow of Kurdish: The Slice of Other Ethnolinguistic Minorities in Turkey, *Middle East Report*, 219, 2001, 45-47.

Smock D. R. & Smock A. C., *The Politics of Pluralism: A Comparative Study of Lebanon and Ghana*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1975.

Stavenhagen R., *The Ethnic Question. Conflicts, Development, and Human Rights*, Chicago: United Nations University Press, 1990.

Stillman N. A., Language, Memory, and Identity in the Middle East: The Case for Lebanon by Franck Salameh, *The Middle East Book Review*, 3(2), 2012, 190-193.

Vahe T., The Permanent Settlement of Armenian Refugees in Lebanon in the Years 1920 and 1930, in Boudjikanian Aida (ed.), *Armenians of Lebanon: From Past Princesses and Refugees to Present-Day Community*, Beirut: Armenian Heritage Press of the National Association for Armenian Studies and Research, 2009, 59-97.

Thornberry P., *International law and the rights of minorities*, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1991.

Tierney S., Federalism in a Unitary State: a Paradox too Far, *Regional and Federal Studies*, 19(2), 2009, 237-253.

UN Special Rapporteur on minority issues, *Language rights of linguistic minorities: a practical guide for implementation*, Geneva 2017 (quot. UN Handbook).

Vezbergaite I., Self-Determination of the Kurdish People: Undermining the Unity of the "Turkish Nation"?, IFF Working Paper No. 9, Fribourg 2015.

Yegen M., The Kurdish Question in Turkish State Discourse, *Journal of Contemporary History*, 34(4), 1999, 555-568.

Yesiltas O., Iraq, Arab Nationalism, and Obstacle to Democratic Transition, in Romano David/Gurses Mehmet (eds.), *Conflict, Democratization and the Kurds in The Middle East – Turkey, Iran, Iraq, and Syria*, New York: Springer, 2014, 41-57.

Zeydanlıoğlu W., Turkey's Kurdish Language Policy, *The International Journal of the Sociology* of Language, 217 (2012), 99-125.

### Websites

Assyrians in Iraq, Minority Rights, <u>https://minorityrights.org/minorities/assyrians-2/</u>, consulted on March 18<sup>th</sup> 2023 (quot. *Minority Rights*)